STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Berkeley County
Court of General Sessions
Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Aug 20 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

GABRIELLE OLIVA LASHANE DAVIS KOCSIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000687

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

JASON SCOTT LUCK
Attorney at Law
107 S. Parsonage St. (P.O. Box #47)
Bennettsville, SC 29512

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the Circuit Court err in refusing to charge the jury with a burglary charge that reflected current South Carolina burglary law?
- II. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to grant Appellant's directed verdict motion on her burglary charge, in light of the fact that the prosecution never established the owner of the property at issue and said property did not meet the definition of a "dwelling house" under burglary law?
- III. Did the Circuit Court err in sentencing Appellant to imprisonment for kidnapping when she was subject to a sentence of imprisonment for murder?
- IV. Did the Circuit Court err in failing to grant Appellant's directed verdict motion on her kidnapping charges, in light of the fact that the prosecution never established the intent to commit this crime as to the alleged victims?
- V. Did the Circuit Court err in allowing the State to play a 911 call for the jury where the call served no purpose but to inflame its passions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Gabrielle Oliva Lashane Davis-Kocsis (“Kocsis”) was arrested for murder, burglary, two counts of kidnapping, and criminal conspiracy. R. 503 – R. 504; R. 505 – R. 506; R. 507 – R. 508; R. 509 – R. 510; R. 511 – R. 512. These charges arise out of Kocsis’ alleged effort on September 27, 2015, to recover approximately \$1,700 and a motorcycle stolen by Mark Connor, who was hiding out in a well-known “trap house” located at 512 McCrystal Circle, Moncks Corner, SC 29461 (“McCrystal Circle”). During this alleged recovery effort an armed friend of Kocsis fell through the rotten floor of the house, causing his handgun to discharge and resulting in the death of Connor. R. 341 – R. 343.

Kocsis was tried on April 8-10, 2019 before Circuit Court Judge Maite Murphy in Moncks Corner, South Carolina. R. 1. The State was represented by Bart Stegall and Jordan Smith of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor’s Office, and Kocsis was represented by Grant Smaldone and Jason Luck. R. 2. The jury found Kocsis guilty of all charges, and Judge Murphy sentenced Kocsis to fifty years’ imprisonment for murder, fifty years for burglary, thirty years for each count of kidnapping, and five years for conspiracy. R. 488 – R. 489. Judge Murphy ordered these terms to be served concurrently. R. 488 – R. 489. Kocsis timely served her notice of appeal on April 18, 2019.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Circuit Court failed to charge the jury with the current South Carolina law of burglary.

Standard of review

An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury charges absent an abuse of discretion. State v. Williams, 367 S.C. 192, 195, 624 S.E.2d 443, 445 (Ct. App. 2005) (citation and quotation marks omitted). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). "In general, the trial court is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina." State v. Burkhart, 350 S.C. 252, 565 S.E.2d 298 (2002).

Relevant facts and legal analysis

Kocsis requested the following change to the Circuit Court's proposed charge for burglary:

Remove

IF A PERSON ENTERS A BUILDING BY USING DECEPTION, ARTIFICE, TRICK, OR MISREPRESENTATION TO GET CONSENT TO ENTER, THIS IS AN ENTRY WITHOUT CONSENT.

Replace with

The entry must be without consent. "Enters a dwelling without consent" means to enter "without the consent of the person in lawful possession." In addition to the normal meaning of entry without consent, the phrase also includes entering by using deception, artifice, trick or misrepresentation to gain consent to enter from the person in lawful possession.

A person in "lawful possession" has custody and control of, and the right and expectation to be safe and secure in, the dwelling in question.

R. 496. The Circuit Court refused to make this change, overruled Kocsis' objections, and charged the jury with the language it originally proposed. R. 408, R. 465 – R. 468, R. 481. The Circuit Court also denied a motion for new trial based on the erroneous instruction. R. 491 – R. 493.

“The law of burglary is primarily designed to secure the sanctity of one’s home, especially at night time when peace, solitude, and safety are most desired and expected.” State v. Brooks, 277 S.C. 111, 112, 283 S.E.2d 830, 831 (1981). “Thus, at the heart of burglary law is protection of the individual and family from unlawful intrusion while home at night.” Id. at 113, 283 S.E.2d at 831. “[B]urglary is an offence against the *habitation* of some other person.” State v. Trapp, 17 S.C. 467, 471 (1882) (emphasis in original); see also State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 274, 709 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2011) (“We have maintained consistently for well over one hundred years that burglary is a crime against possession and habitation, not a crime against ownership”). “[T]he core of a dwelling constituting one’s home for burglary purposes is the expectation of peace and security therein. Mere ownership does not automatically confer this status on a person. That ownership interest must be examined in light of who possesses that expectation of sanctity in the dwelling.” Singley, 392 S.C. at 276, 709 S.E.2d at 606.

Kocsis' proposed change is based on the language of State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 277, 709 S.E.2d 603, 606-607 (2011), as interpreted by Judge Anderson. See Ralph King Anderson, Jr., South Carolina Requests to Charge – Criminal, 2012, § 2-13(2). This charge includes the “expectation to be safe and secure” language, which is relevant to this case, where the jury needed to determine if McCrystal Circle was actually a home and subject to burglary. Kocsis' convictions must be vacated, and this case be remanded for a trial with the correct jury instructions.

II. The State never proved the elements of burglary in its case-in-chief.

Standard of review

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict in a criminal case, an appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not its weight.

If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury. When a motion for a directed verdict is made in a criminal case in which the State relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence, the trial judge is required to submit the case to the jury if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced. On the other hand, a defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged.

State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 101-102, 610 S.E.2d 859, 6-7 (Ct. App. 2005) (citations omitted).

Relevant facts and legal analysis

At the conclusion of the State’s case, Kocsis moved for directed verdict, arguing, *inter alia*, that the State had failed to present any evidence supporting the elements of the crime of burglary, and that McCrystal Circle did not constitute a “dwelling” under the law of burglary. R. 294 – R. 301; R. 408 – R. 409. The Circuit Court denied this motion; this is reversible error.

A. The State never established the entry was without the consent of the person in lawful possession.

The crime of burglary in the first degree requires the person (1) enter a dwelling (2) without consent (3) with the intent to commit a crime in the dwelling and (4) the existence of an enumerated aggravating circumstance. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A). Burglary is “a crime against possession, not against property.” State v. Brooks, 277 S.C. 111, 112, 283 S.E.2d 830, 831 (1981). In order to determine if a defendant committed burglary, the State must prove the alleged victim had “custody and control of, and the right and expectation to be safe and secure in, the dwelling

burglarized....” Singley at 277, 709 S.E.2d at 606.

The State never presented evidence that Rosemary Hoffberg, the alleged victim, was the owner of the dwelling allegedly burglarized. Rosemary Hoffberg¹ never testified in this matter, and none of the State’s witnesses uttered her name during the State’s case-in-chief.² While some of the State’s witnesses mentioned a “Ms. Rose,” the State never established that “Ms. Rose” was Rosemary Hoffberg. Further, the burglary indictment does not specify an address for the alleged crime. (Indictment). With no evidence showing that “Ms. Rose” was Rosemary Hoffberg, and no evidence of Rosemary Hoffberg’s relationship to McCrystal Circle, the State could not prove that Rosemary Hoffberg had “custody and control of” McCrystal Circle. The Circuit Court erroneously failed to direct a verdict of acquittal on this charge.

B. The house at McCrystal Circle was not a structure that could be burglarized.

“The law of burglary is primarily designed to secure the sanctity of one’s **home...**” Singley at 276, 709 S.E.2d at 606. (emphasis added) (internal quotation omitted). A home, at least for the purposes of the law of burglary, is a place where the person in custody or control of has “the right and expectation to be safe and secure” Id. at 277, 709 S.E.2d at 606. Any person who was at McCrystal Circle had no expectation of safety and security:

- 1) Alexis Murray testified the commotion during the alleged home invasion was “nothing out of the ordinary” for this house. R. 56; R. 111 – R. 112.

¹ Hoffberg is apparently a 70-year-old methamphetamine user who traded drugs with other persons in this case. R. 145; R. 336.

² The Trial Court did mention her name once during voir dire. R. 9.

- 2) Nicholas Varner testified that if one called 911 and mentioned he was at Miss Rose's, law enforcement would know the address. R. 102. "Everyone in the neighborhood" stays at Miss Rose's. R. 102.
- 3) Tommy Kennedy testified a "lot of people" stay at McCrystal Circle. R. 126.
- 4) Richard Curtis testified "Miss Rose" traded drugs with the people who visited her house. R. 145.
- 5) Whitney Chance testified the house was in such a state that she "didn't even know whose house that was..." R. 162.

All of the above testimony was from the *State's* witnesses.³ McCrystal Circle was not a home – it was a place of illegal recreation, as evidenced by the photographs introduced by the State.⁴ State's Exhibits 2-12; State's Exhibits 17-18. It is not a structure subject to the law of burglary, and thus could not be burglarized. The Circuit Court erroneously failed to direct a verdict of acquittal on this charge.

³ Defense witness Curtis Jamison also testified it was a "known drug house." R. 379.

⁴ If there was anywhere in McCrystal Circle arguably subject to being burglarized, it would have been Miss Rose's room, which she never left. R. 100.

III. Kocsis cannot be sentenced for kidnapping in light of her murder sentence.

Standard of review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 197, 682 S.E.2d 275, 279 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5-6, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001)). The appellate court is “bound by the trial court’s factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. (quoting Wilson, 345 S.C. at 5-6, 545 S.E.2d at 829). The reviewing court “does not re-evaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of the evidence but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Slocumb, 412 S.C. 88, 91, 770 S.E.2d 436, 438 (Ct. App. 2015). “A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” In re M.B.H., 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010).

Relevant facts and legal analysis

After her sentencing, Kocsis moved for a new trial R. 490 – R. 491. One of the grounds for a new trial was that the jury did not receive the proper instruction that would allow for separate sentences for both kidnapping and murder.

South Carolina’s statutory scheme forbids the imposition of a sentence for kidnapping when a defendant is also convicted of murder of the same alleged victim. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910.

Specifically, the governing statute provides

Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by his parent, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years **unless sentenced for murder** as provided in section 16-3-20.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 (emphasis added). “Our courts have long held, where an appellant has been sentenced for murder of a victim, this code section precludes a sentence for kidnapping of that victim, and any such sentence should be vacated.” State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 201-202, 682 S.E.2d 275, 281 (Ct. App. 2009); see also Owens v. State, 331 S.C. 582, 584-585, 503 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1998); State v. McCall, 304 S.C. 465, 470, 405 S.E.2d 414, 416-417 (Ct. App. 1991), overruled on other grounds by Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 352, 520 S.E.2d 614, 616 (1999); State v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 1, 8, 317 S.E.2d 129, 133 (1984); State v. Perry, 278 S.C. 290, 495, 299 S.E.2d 324, 327 (1983); State v. Copeland, 278 S.C. 572, 597, 300 S.E.2d 63, 77-78 (1982).

While a South Carolina criminal defendant can be convicted of a kidnapping incident to another crime, one exception to this rule is “where the defendant has been sentenced for murder, the kidnapping statute prohibits the trial court from separately sentencing the defendant for kidnapping.” State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, n.6, 688 S.E.2d 857, n.6 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910; State v. Livingston, 282 S.C. 1, 8, 317 S.E.2d 129, 133 (1984)). It is possible that under State v. East, 353 S.C. 634, 578 S.E.2d 748 (Ct. App. 2003), an appropriate charge (requiring intent to commit two separate offenses) could have allowed a separate sentence, but the Circuit Court did not issue such a charge. Kocsis’ convictions must be vacated and this case be remanded for a trial with the correct jury instructions.

IV. The State never met its burden of proof regarding the *mens rea* for kidnapping.

Standard of review

“A case should be submitted to the jury when the evidence is circumstantial ‘if there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E.2d 774, 776 (2011) (quoting State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). “Evidence must constitute positive proof of facts and circumstances which reasonably tends to prove guilt.” Id. “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 776-777. On appeal of the denial of a directed verdict of acquittal, this Court must look at the evidence in the light most favorable to the state.” Id. at 139, 708 S.E.2d at 777; see also State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 429 753 S.E.2d 402, 409 (2013). If the state failed to present any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove guilt of the accused, the appellate court must reverse the lower court’s denial of the directed verdict motion. Hepburn, 406 S.C. at 416, 429 S.E.2d at 409.

Relevant facts and legal analysis

Kocsis was charged with two counts of kidnapping: one of Whitney Renee Chance and the other of Alexis Nicole Murray. R. 509 – R. 510; R. 511 – R. 512. At the completion of the State’s case (and at the end of trial), Kocsis moved for directed verdict on the ground that the State had failed to prove that Kocsis “knowingly” kidnapped these persons. R. 296; R. 408 – R. 409; R. 491. A person is said to act knowingly if he is aware that that result is practically certain to follow from his conduct, whatever his desire may be as to that result. See Ralph King Anderson, Jr., South Carolina Requests to Charge – Criminal, 2012, § 2-10; State v. Jefferies,

316 S.C. 13, n.8, 446 S.E.2d 427, n.8 (1994) (quoting U.S. v. Bailey, 444 U.S. 394, 405 (1980)). It was virtually impossible for Kocsis to be aware it was “practically certain” that Chance and Murray would be kidnapped, as she did not even know they were there: She had never met Chance and Murray before that night R. 353 – R. 354. and the text informing Kocsis of Connor’s whereabouts did not mention them, either. R. 148 – R. 149; R. 271; R. 359. Viewing the facts in a light most favorable to the State, Kocsis travelled to McCrystal Circle to collect her stolen money from Connor; there is no evidence of specific intent to kidnap Chance and Murray. The Circuit Court erred in failing to direct an acquittal on these causes of action.

V. The 911 call played for the jury served no purpose but to inflame its passions.

Standard of review

The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. The admission or exclusion of testimonial evidence falls within the sound discretion of the trial court, whose decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent abuse resulting in prejudice.

State v. Bratschi, 413 S.C. 97, 114, 775 S.E.2d 39, 48 (Ct. App. 2015) (citations and quotations omitted).

Relevant facts and legal analysis

The very first piece of evidence the State provided the jury in this trial was a recording of a 911 call after the bungled attempt to recover Kocsis' stolen money. State's Exhibit #1. Kocsis objected to introduction of this approximately ten-minute recording, arguing it was unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE. R. 12 – R. 14; R. 39. The call consisted primarily of two of the State's witnesses (Whitney Chance and Alexis Murray) pleading with the operator for a quick response and begging Connor to not die. The State believed this recording was admissible, arguing: "It actually gives in real time what is taking place in that moment in trying to give law enforcement the address, the description of the cars, trying to get the description of the assailants in real time." R. 13. The Circuit Court ultimately admitted this evidence "for corroborative purposes and establishing the elements of the offense." R. 14.

This recording was wrongly admitted. Pursuant to the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, all relevant evidence is generally admissible; however, even relevant evidence must be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Rule 402, SCRE; Rule 403, SCRE. A determination on the admissibility of relevant evidence requires

consideration of the evidence's probative value, the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the evidence, and the balancing of those two.

“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Under Rule 401, evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” State v. Preslar, 364 S.C. 466, 476, 613 S.E.2d 381, 386 (Ct. App. 2005). “Evidence is relevant if it tends to establish or make more or less probable some matter in issue upon which it directly or indirectly bears, and it is not required that the inference sought should necessarily follow from the fact proved.” State v. Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 126-127, 606 S.E.2d 508, 513 (Ct. App. 2004). “Evidence which assists a jury at arriving at the truth of an issue is relevant and admissible unless otherwise incompetent.” State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986) (citing Toole v. Salter, 249 S.C. 354, 361, 154 S.E.2d 434, 437 (1967)).

Relevant evidence “may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Orozco, 392 S.C. 212, 218, 708 S.E.2d 227, 230 (Ct. App. 2011).

When looking at Rule 403, SCRE, the starting point for analyzing evidence under Rule 403 is determining the probative value of the evidence offered. “‘Probative’ means ‘[t]ending to prove or disprove.’” State v. Gray, 408 S.C. 601, 609, 759 S.E.2d 160, 165 (Ct. App. 2014). According to this Court, “‘[p]robative value’ is the measure of the importance of that tendency to the outcome of a case.” Id. at 610, 759 S.E.2d at 165. While relevant evidence and probative evidence are not synonymous, the two share many similarities as demonstrated through their definitions. The probative value of evidence is directly related to the how important that evidence is in assisting the

jury in rendering a verdict. Id. Thus, when analyzing the probative value of evidence, the court must consider the importance of the evidence as it relates to the issues presented in the case. State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 528, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012).

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