STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Aug 18 2020

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions
The Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-000687

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

GABRIELLE OLIVA LASHANE DAVIS KOCSIS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM F. SCHUMACHER, IV
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3713

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
OT Wallace Building
Charleston, S.C. 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly charged the jury on the correct and current South Carolina law of burglary which was applicable to Appellant's case.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in failing to use his proposed jury charge for burglary. The State disagrees with this assertion of error for numerous reasons. Initially, the State notes the trial judge provided an accurate and complete description of the law pertaining to burglary: specifically that a dwelling is “any building or portion of a building in which a person ordinarily sleeps. Further, the only notable change requested by trial counsel was for language referring to “lawful possession” of the dwelling in question, based on the language of State v. Singley, 392 S.C. 270, 277, 709 S.E.2d 603, 606–07 (2011) as interpreted by Judge Anderson. See Ralph King Anderson, Jr., South Carolina Requests to Charge — Criminal, 2012, § 2-13(2). As explained below, the trial judge properly refused inclusion of this additional language for several reasons.

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). “No instruction should be given by the trial judge, at the request of the appellant, which tenders an issue which is not presented or supported by the evidence.” State v. Weaver, 265 S.C. 130, 137, 217 S.E.2d 31, 34 (1975). “Ordinarily, the trial court has the duty to give requested instructions which correctly state the law applicable to the issues and which are supported by the evidence.” State v. Peer, 320 S.C. 546, 553, 466 S.E.2d 375, 380 (Ct. App. 1996). The trial court only commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. State v. Hill, 315 S.C. 260, 262, 433 S.E.2d 838, 849 (1993).

First, the State notes no argument or justification was provided for the charge at trial. It can only be assumed the reasons for the motion were similar to the arguments posited by trial counsel during his directed verdict motion: there was no proof “Miss Rose” was Rosemary Hoffberg and no testimony she expected peace and security in her home. However, as explained in *supra* in Issue I, there was no factual dispute at trial that Miss Rose was the owner of the residence. Deputy Vandiver testified that when she arrived at the scene, she spoke with the owner of the residence, Ms. Rose. Further, all the witnesses at trial, **including Appellant**, confirmed the scene of the crime was known to everyone as Miss Rose’s home. Accordingly, all the evidence at trial supported the assertion that Ms. Rose was live-in owner of the home, and without any dispute in the evidence as to Miss Rose’s ownership and possession of the party trial counsel’s additional language was improper. See Weaver, 265 S.C. at 137, 217 S.E.2d at 34.

Second, the Singley language applies to a distinctly difference factual scenario than the instant case: in Singley, the named defendant was trying to argue that he was innocent of burglary because he possessed an ownership interest in the property he burglarized. The Supreme Court of South Carolina found “that the mere holding of title to property is not dispositive of whether the owner can be convicted of burglarizing it.” Id. at 276, 709 S.E.2d at 606. Notably, and antithetical to Appellant’s arguments at trial, the court also found “our burglary laws protect an interest separate and apart from ownership: the **right** to be safe and secure in one's home.” Id. at 276–77, 709 709 S.E.2d at 606. (emphasis added)

As noted above, Miss Rosemary Hoffberg’s possession and ownership of the property was not in dispute at trial. Both the prosecution and defense presented evidence that Miss Hoffberg owned and possessed the property. As noted by the Supreme Court of South Carolina in Singley, those in possession of property have a right to be safe and secure in their homes.

Prior commotion or arguing is not equivalent to an expectation that masked intruders will break-into a residence, assault the people within, and murder a guest. Accordingly, the trial judge properly refused to add trial counsel's requested language to his jury charge.

II.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on his burglary charge because the State's evidence, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, proved all the necessary elements of the charge.

Appellant argues the trial judge improperly submitted the crime of burglary, alleging the State failed to provide "any evidence" supporting the elements of the crime because Miss Rose's home did not constitute a "dwelling" under the burglary statute. The State disagrees with this allegation of error. The State provided direct and circumstantial evidence supporting the charge at trial.

When ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence or non-existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Curtis, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004); State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 190, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002). Ultimately, the question is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine "whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 237, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, "the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty." See State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016); see also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d

769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”).

In order to establish the statutory offense of first-degree burglary in South Carolina, the State must prove the defendant: (1) entered the dwelling of another; (2) without consent; (3) with the intent to commit a crime therein; and (4) with at least one aggravating circumstance present. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311(A). Significantly, pursuant to South Carolina law, a “dwelling” for burglary purposes includes “any house, outhouse, apartment, building, erection, shed or box in which there sleeps a proprietor, tenant, watchman, clerk, laborer or person who lodges there with a view to the protection of property” along with “all houses, outhouses, buildings, sheds and erections” that are within two-hundred yards of and appurtenant to a dwelling house. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-10; see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-310(2) (“‘Dwelling’ means its definition found in Section 16-11-10 and also means the living quarters of a building which is used or normally used for sleeping, living, or lodging by a person.”).

In the case sub judice, the trial judge denied trial counsel’s directed verdict motion because the State provided direct evidence and/or substantial circumstantial elements of each of the elements of first-degree burglary. All of the State’s witnesses who were present during the shooting confirmed that Appellant and her co-conspirators forcefully entered the house while armed. Varner and Kennedy both testified to the group breaking windows to the home and barging into the house shortly thereafter. Freeman, who was with the conspirators, specifically testified to the group forcing its way into the home without the consent of anyone within. Freeman also confirmed that the group invaded the home that night with the specific goal of finding Victim and, at the very least, threatening him in order to retrieve the money and motorcycle he stole from Appellant. The circumstantial evidence only confirms their nefarious

motives: the masked group was armed with guns and mace, with Appellant spraying the mace throughout the home to incapacitate anyone within who may try to resist the invasion.

Trial counsel's sole challenges to the burglary charge was that the State "failed" to prove Rosemary Hoffberg, the person named in the burglary indictment, was the "Ms. Rose" everyone referred to at trial, because Hoffberg did not testify at trial. However, Hoffberg was not required to testify at trial: the State only needed to provided evidence that Hoffberg was indeed aggrieved in the charged manner. The States witnesses were unanimous in testifying that the home belonged to and was occupied by Ms. Rose. Deputy Vandiver specifically testified to meeting with all of the people present at the house, including Ms. Hoffberg, and speaking with her after the incident. Even the defense's case supported this conclusion: Appellant herself testified that she knew the subject property was the home of Ms. Rose.

Further, as discussed in Issue I, Appellant's attempt to confuse the idea of prior "commotion" in the house with armed men and women forcing their way into the home, spraying bear mace at every individual within, and killing a person is outrageous. It is a paradigm of both state and federal law that people have a right to "be secure in their persons, houses papers, and effects" See, e.g., U.S. CONST. amend. IV. Drug use within a home does not deprive an owner or occupant of said rights. See, e.g., State v. Bash, 419 S.C. 263, 797 S.E.2d 721 (2017) (reversing defendant's conviction for trafficking in cocaine and cocaine base, finding officer's warrantless entry into grassy area for purposes of a "knock and talk" was protected under the Fourth Amendment). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict.

III.

The trial judge properly sentenced Appellant for murder and for both kidnapping charges because both kidnapping charges were for victims who were not the subject of the murder charge.

Appellant asserts she cannot be sentenced for kidnapping in light of her murder sentence because she cannot be sentenced for both murdering and kidnapping Victim. The State generally agrees with the assertion that, had Appellant been convicted of both the kidnapping and murder of Victim, South Carolina law prohibits a sentence for kidnapping in addition to a sentence for murder. However, such is not the case in the current situation because Appellant was not charged with the kidnapping of Victim, but the kidnappings of Murray and Chance and the jury was explicitly instructed of such. Thus, Appellant's kidnapping sentence was entirely appropriate.

S.C. Code Ann § 16-3-910 provides:

Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by his parent, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years *unless sentenced for murder as provided in Section 16-3-20.*

(emphasis added).

“The [Supreme] Court has summarily vacated life sentences for kidnapping when the defendant received a **concurrent** sentence under the murder statute.” Owens v. State, 331 S.C. 582, 585, 503 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1998) (collecting cases) (emphasis added). “Our courts have long held, where an appellant has been sentenced for murder of a victim, this code section precludes a sentence for kidnapping **of that victim**, and any such sentence should be vacated. State v. Vick, 384 S.C. 189, 201–02, 682 S.E.2d 275, 281 (Ct. App. 2009) (emphasis added).

In the instant case, the trial judge properly sentenced Appellant for kidnapping because these convictions pertained not to Victim, but to Murray and Chance. Nothing in South Carolina law prohibits a trial court from sentencing a defendant for the murder of one victim and the for the kidnapping of a separate victim. See, e.g., Vick, 384 S.C. at 201–02, 682 S.E.2d at 281. Further, despite Appellant’s claims to the contrary, the jury was explicitly informed that neither of the kidnapping charges applied to Victim. Further, the trial judge instructed the jurors that they were to determine Appellant’s guilt for the kidnappings of Chance and Murray, not Victim, and specifically returned verdicts for Chance and Murray, not Victim. Accordingly, the trial judge did not err in sentencing Appellant for kidnapping when neither kidnapping conviction applied to Victim.

IV.

The trial judge properly submitted both kidnapping charges to the jury because Appellant, through the theory of hand of one, hand of all, was liable for the other crimes committed by her conspirators during the burglary and murder committed by the group.

Appellant claims the trial judge improperly failed to direct verdicts in her favor for both kidnapping charges because the prosecution did not provide evidence that Appellant intended to kidnap Chance and Murray when she burgled Hoffberg's home that night. The State disagrees with this assertion of error because the State provided direct evidence that Appellant's coconspirators held Chance and Murray against their will during the burglary and murder of Victim, which through the hand of one, hand of all theory of liability supported a finding of Appellant's guilt for these charges.

“Under the **hand of one** is the **hand** of all theory [of accomplice liability], one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose.” State v. Thompson, 374 S.C. 257, 261–62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704–05 (Ct. App. 2007) (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Condrey, 349 S.C. 184, 194, 562 S.E.2d 320, 324 (Ct. App. 2002)) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Mere presence and prior knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, without more, is insufficient to constitute guilt.” Id. at 262, 647 S.E.2d at 705. “However, ‘presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a [principal].’” Id. (alteration in original) (quoting State v. Hill, 268 S.C. 390, 395–96, 234 S.E.2d 219, 221 (1977)).

Initially, the State notes that Appellant incorrectly asserts that she had never met Chance and Murray before that night. (Br. of Appellant p.11). However, both women testified to

meeting Appellant on multiple occasions prior to the shooting and were able to easily identify her during the crime. More importantly, however, Appellant's guilt for the kidnapping charges was not dependent on any knowledge of Chance or Murray being in the home prior to entry of the home but on the "hand of one, hand of all" theory of accomplice liability. Pursuant to the hand of one, hand of all theory, "one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design and purpose." Thompson, 374 S.C. at 261–62, 647 S.E.2d at 704–05 (Ct. App. 2007). Both Murray and Chance testified they were held at gunpoint by Appellant's co-conspirators and that they did not feel free to move or leave at that time, providing direct evidence for both kidnapping charges. Further, these events occurred as a result of Appellant's burglary of Miss Rose's home and her illegal attack on the residents within. Due to the hand of one, hand of all theory of accomplice liability, Appellant was guilty of the kidnappings performed by her coconspirators. Accordingly, the trial judge properly refused to direct acquittals on Appellant's two kidnapping charges.

V.

The trial judge properly admitted the 9-1-1 recording of the phone call by the witnesses pursuant to Rule 403, SCRE and Rule 801(d)(1)(B), SCRE.

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